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The Belle Monti 
Country Club, the 
cornerstone of the 
Belmont Country Club 
Estates completed in 
the fall of 1925, was 
the first piece of the 
grand enterprise of Lee 
Monroe, Arthur Lyon and 
Lawrence Miller, San 
Francisco real estate 
developers who saw 
the potential for a 
“little Hillsborough” in 
the hills south of San 
Mateo. 
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Two golf courses were promised over the 1,000 acres that Monroe, Lyon and Miller acquired for 
Belmont Country Club Estates, one 9-hole and one 18-hole, but apparently only six holes were 
ever finished. This photo appeared in a sales brochure published in 1926.
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This map was the centerpiece of a hand-printed brochure for the sales campaign. Those of you who live 
near the church may still see “Belmont Country Club Estates” on your property tax bill. If you do, your land 
was included in the subdivision that was intended to extend almost all the way down  to El Camino Real.
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The

The Belle Monti Country Club, the anchor and major draw for the sales effort, was the first piece to 
be completed at a cost of $65,000. The first event at the country club is believed to have been a 
holiday party in December 1925. Every purchaser of a lot got a free membership in the club.
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A huge “swimming tank” was added on the east side, with a children’s wading pool at the north end, at a cost of 
$10,000.  From the size of the crowds in the photos, the pool was a great draw. It was filled in by Kaiser Corp. (which 
purchased the property in 1950) for a parking lot, and that’s how it remains today.

The view of 
the Belmont 
hills to the 
northeast 
from the 
veranda of 
the country 
club.
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The Dining Room of the 
clubhouse was 
decorated informally 
and remains much the 
same today as it did in 
the 1927 photo. The 
columns and the ceiling 
partitions are 
unchanged. Although 
we have no photos, the 
kitchen appears to have 
occupied the same 
space as today’s 
kitchen. Carol Swift 
Robinson, who lived in 
the building as a child 
during World War II, 
remembers it much as 
it is now — without the 
modern appliances.
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the golf course from the veranda 
outside the Dining Room. Note that 

the railings are the same ones 
today — although they have since 

been painted many times.

Foursomes gather at the first tee at the golf course to the 
west of the Belle Monte Country Club clubhouse. The course 
itself was known as the Hillcrest Golf Course which was 
slated to include a 9-hole and an 18-hole course. Reportedly, 
only six holes of the first course were ever completed.
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This photo, from the sales pamphlet, is the 
only known picture of the original ballroom 

with its stone fireplace. The vaulted wooden 
ceiling beams, the fireplace and the 

westside windows are still present in the 
church Sanctuary today.

The wall sconces with the crossed 
golf clubs remain in the Sanctuary of 
the church. Be sure to take a peek.
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The first allotment of 
homesites sold well with 
Monroe, Lyon and Miller using 
modern marketing 
techniques (free beer, hot 
dogs and a country club 
membership for every buyer) 
that had worked in Los 
Angeles.  

Note that the developers are 
now calling the community — 
not just the development — 
Belle Monti.

Also, it’s pretty clear that 
some of the photos used in 
brochure were not taken 
locally.
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What do we know about Lee Monroe, Arthur Lyon and Lawrence Miller, the San Francisco 
entrepreneurs who saw a real estate bonanza in the hills south of San Mateo in 1924? Not a great 
deal other than they were extravagant in their vision of an upper-middle class community of vacation 
homes and cabins. All three are memorialized with street names in the city that was to become 
Belmont in 1926. 

We do know that there was a fourth partner, whose name never appears anywhere in the real estate 
promotion or on street signs. His name was Joseph Greenberg, who may have had to remain in the 
shadows because of the Jewish tint to his name. We found him in a handwritten ledger that recorded 
the stock ownership of the corporation. So, 100 years later, we are delighted to celebrate Greenberg 
along with Monroe, Lyon and Miller.



The developers 
spared no 
expense in 
presenting 
Belmont Country 
Club Estates as a 
premier 
investment. This 
brochure was 
printed on linen 
vellum with gold 
leaf! (And with 
more photos that 
don’t look 
particularly local!)
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“The three entrepreneurs 
would have been better 
advised to have invested less 
in the glamours of promotion 
and more in the necessities of 
paving and utilities for their 
new customers,” Ria Elena 
Dewing wrote  in Heritage of 
the Wooded Hills: A Belmont 
History.

The corporation foundered 
under the weight of lawsuits 
and liens from utility 
providers and unhappy 
customers. They tried to use 
the country club as leverage 
by opening it to well-heeled 
locals, but the next group of 
properties was never brought 
to market.
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Belle Monti Country Club was still 
viable in May 1930, according to 
this flyer for a Children’s Day  at 

the Playground, but the 
corporation was seriously under 

water and undercapitalized after 
the stock market crash of 1929.

In the early ‘30s, the mortgage 
was foreclosed on the clubhouse 

and remaining property. The 
building  stood shuttered and in 

disrepair through most of the 
1930s, and rumor has it that 

it may have served as 
a house of ill-repute!

For a brief moment in 1937, the 
city of Belmont negotiated to buy 

the property but dropped out 
when it proved to be too pricey!
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The attack on Pearl Harbor Dec. 7, 
1941, opened a new chapter in the life 
of the long-shuttered clubhouse. It was 
acquired by the military for use first as 
a boarding school for children whose 
parents were deployed. 

The school isn’t mentioned in any of 
the written histories of Belmont, but a 
“graduate” of the school — George 
Swift — returned to Belmont in 2022 
and called the Belmont Historical 
Society to ask if they had any 
information about it. They didn’t, but a 
note was left in the Belle Monti 
Country Club file about that call.

George Swift and his sister, Carol Swift 
Robinson, both in their 80s now, 
remember their time in Belmont 
during the war and were happy to talk 
to us about it.
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it wasn’t safe for the children to stay in the city (which was expecting an attack like Pearl Harbor). She was told about 
a boarding school for children of military parents in Belmont, and she took them both there. George was too little to 
remember much about the school (except that he “didn’t like it one bit”), but Carol has clear memories of four 
dormitories for “big girls and little girls and big boys and little boys” in what was the shower and locker rooms of the 
country club on the lower level of the clubhouse. Upstairs on the main floor was the kitchen and dining room where a 
few desks were set up even though, as Carol says, it wasn’t much of a school. “By the time, I got to a real school, I 
was set back a grade because I was so far behind.” She recalls 20-30 children there at different times.

Carol and 
George Swift as 
children at 
the boarding 
school.

George Swift (on 
the left) learning 

to box at the 
former country 

club turned 
boarding school.
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The boarding school in the clubhouse (center in this photo from the 1930s) was run by two sisters, Miss Evie 
and Miss Elsie. Their niece, Miss Ann, did most of the cooking. They put Carol to work doing laundry and 
watching the younger children. On Saturday afternoons, trips to the matinee for cartoons and westerns at the 
Belmont Theater offered a break in the routine, and at Christmas neighbors brought presents. “Sometimes, my 
mother would come down from San Francisco and play the piano for us,” she said.
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Classical figurines like this one served as out-of-bounds 
markers for the golf course.

Turns out that the huge swimming tank was George’s favorite 
place to be. He learned to swim in it as a toddler and, 
according to his sister, they had to pull him out when it was 
time to come in.

Carol, on the other hand, hated the pool and preferred to spend 
her free time watching butterflies on the grassy slopes that 
once were the manicured greens of the golf course. 

When the war ended in August 1945, parents showed up to 
pick up their kids — everyone but Carol and George, whose 
parents had divorced during the war. Their mother had 
remarried and moved to San Bernardino. So, Miss Elsie and 
Miss Evie piled them into their station wagon and drove south 
to leave them on the doorstep of their mother and new 
stepfather.

“He didn’t want us,” Carol said. ”He never did.”
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Dewing’s history of Belmont tells us that during 
World War II, “the Army, which had an 
antiaircraft camp where Nesbitt School is now, 
took over the building, making it double as an 
officers’ club and a school for the Army’s 
illiterate.” 

That doesn’t square well with the Swift children’s 
account of life at the boarding school, but we do 
know that after the war, the Army used the 
clubhouse for weapons research of some sort.

In 1948, the American Institution of Radiation 
occupied at least the bottom floor of the building 
and stocked the pool with fish for some of their 
experiments which remain hidden from history.

Then in 1950 the Kaiser Foundation bought the 
property to do cancer research. They drained the 
pool, filled it with dirt and paved a parking lot 
over it. That’s pretty much the way it remains 
today.

This iconic stucco kiosk, across Alameda de las Pulgas 
from the church, served as a sales office for Belmont 
Country Club Estates. The city refurbished it in 2014.
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Kaiser sold the property — the building 
essentially as it is to this day and more than 
four acres of land — to the Northern 
California Conference of the United Church 
of Christ in 1953 for $45,000. It became the 
Congregational Church of Belmont, fostered 
by the Congregational Church of San Mateo.

With modest alterations to the original Belle 
Monti Country Club design, the ballroom 
became the Sanctuary — which still sports 
wall sconces with crossed golf clubs! — and 
the Dining Room the social hall. Downstairs 
the showers and dressing rooms were 
converted into a nursery and Sunday School 
rooms as well as the home for Carlmont 
Parents Nursery School in the 1960s.

Bob Donovan recalls that the church sold off 
several lots below the Back 40 on Academy 
Street in the mid-’60s to pay off the 
mortgage that (we assume) was taken out 
to pay back the Conference.

The Congregational Church of Belmont in 1980.

In 2023, the First Congregational Church of Redwood City and the 
Congregational Church of Belmont merged to create the 
Congregational Church of the Peninsula which continues to occupy 
the former Belle Monti Country Club clubhouse, built in 1925. 
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entertain the wealthy that housed the children of 
servicemen and women as well weapons research 
only to become, for the last 70 years, a church 
dedicated to comforting the afflicted.

Not a bad 100 years!


